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 Roberto Canas-Fuente (Canas) killed Fernando Morales, the boyfriend of 

appellant Perla Isabel Gonzalez (Perla), during a fight between Morales and Canas.  

Morales, along with Perla, his accomplice, ambushed Canas as he was picking up his 

daughter at a street corner.  Canas at the time did not know either Morales or Perla. 

 During the fight, Morales pulled out a knife with a three- to four-inch blade, thrust 

it at Canas and cut him in the cheek.  After Canas threw Morales to the ground, Morales 

got up and ran to Perla, who had been standing about 10 feet away, by her car, anxiously 

watching the fight.  From her car, Perla grabbed a rifle she had brought to assault Canas, 

cocked it, pointed it at Canas and then handled it to Morales.  Afraid for his life, Canas 

ran at Morales.  During the struggle for the weapon, Canas was shot three times.  

Although wounded, Canas gained control of the rifle and a few seconds later shot and 

killed Morales, as Morales ran away. 

 Perla was tried and convicted on a provocative act murder theory of the attempted 

murder of Canas and of the first degree murder of Morales.  She appeals. 
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FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 Because Perla challenges the sufficiency of the evidence, we describe in detail the 

facts surrounding the killing.1 

 A.  The People's Case 

 Canas and his wife Joan Curiel were married but separated in May 2005.  Curiel 

was living with Ricardo Gonzalez (Ricardo), Perla's brother.  Also living with Curiel and 

Ricardo was the minor child of Curiel and Canas (daughter), Curiel's other children and 

Curiel's mother Rosalba Osguera-Alvarez (Osguera). 

 Canas and Curiel shared custody of their daughter.  However, because Canas and 

Ricardo did not get along, Canas typically picked up his daughter at a prearranged 

location near Curiel's residence.  Before the shooting, Canas and Ricardo had argued 

several times on the telephone and had at least one physical altercation outside of Curiel's 

home.  Each blamed the other as the cause of their feud. 

 On the evening of May 21, 2005, Curiel called Canas, who worked as an 

emergency room technician, to arrange for treatment for Osguera.  Curiel dropped 

Osguera off at the hospital where Canas worked.  After Osguera returned home, Curiel 

and Ricardo began arguing over whether Curiel had lied to him about "partying" with 

Canas while Ricardo was away.  During their argument, Canas called and spoke to 

Curiel.  According to Ricardo, Canas bragged that he and Curiel had been intimate while 

                                              

1  As discussed post, we are required to view the evidence in the light most favorable 

to the judgment of conviction.  (See People v. Osband (1996) 13 Cal.4th 622, 690.)  

Certain portions of the factual and procedural history related to Perla's claims of error are 

discussed post, in connection with those issues. 



4 

 

Ricardo was in Mexico.2  Canas understood Curiel to say she did not want Ricardo in the 

home and Canas could hear children screaming in the background.  Concerned for his 

daughter, Canas immediately left work and drove to Curiel's residence. 

 When Canas arrived, Curiel was leaving the house with her children, including 

their daughter.  Ricardo was not far behind.  As Curiel drove off with the children, 

Ricardo got into his car and followed her; Canas in turn got back inside his car and 

followed Ricardo.  Canas testified he pulled along side Ricardo, rolled down his window 

and yelled, "What the fuck are you thinking?  The kids are in the car.  Knock it off."3  

After Canas cut off Ricardo, Ricardo took off in the opposite direction of Curiel.  Canas 

followed Ricardo to make sure Ricardo did not continue following Curiel and the 

children, then returned to Curiel's home and called the police.  Ricardo also called the 

police. 

 Later that evening, after the police had left, Ricardo's mother Beatrice Gonzalez 

(Beatrice), Perla, Morales and Ricardo's brother Jorge Gonzalez (Jorge) met outside 

Curiel's home.  Ricardo discussed what had happened with Canas earlier that evening.  

Beatrice argued with Curiel and told Curiel that her son did not need such problems.  

                                              

2  Curiel testified at trial that she and Ricardo did not fight that evening about 

whether she and Canas had been intimate while Ricardo was in Mexico, or about whether 

Ricardo should move out of her house. 

3  Ricardo disputes Canas's version of events, and testified Canas actually came after 

him, banged on his car and told him, "I want to kick your ass."  When Ricardo drove off, 

Canas got back into his car and according to Ricardo, Canas followed closely behind 

Ricardo and attempted to run him off the road as Ricardo drove behind Curiel. 



5 

 

Perla told Curiel that if anything happened to Ricardo, they were going to "kick [Canas's] 

ass." 

 As they stood outside Curiel's home, Jorge testified that Canas continued to call 

the house and argue with Ricardo.  Finally, Jorge answered the telephone and agreed to 

fight Canas a short distance from Curiel's house.  Jorge, his friend, Perla and Morales all 

drove to a nearby street corner and waited about 20 minutes for Canas to arrive.  Jorge 

testified that Morales had a "B.B. gun" rifle in the car and that Morales shot it out the car 

window while they waited for Canas.  When Canas failed to show, the group went back 

to Curiel's house and everyone left for the night. 

 The next morning, Perla went to Jorge's house.  Perla told Jorge that Curiel had 

told her that Canas was going to be picking up his daughter and Perla wanted Jorge to 

come with her to intercept and "beat up" Canas because he was harassing Ricardo.  

Before Jorge left with Perla, Jorge grabbed a baseball bat.  Jorge testified he intended to 

break Canas's car windows with the bat. 

 Perla and Jorge next went to pick up Morales.  As Jorge walked around Perla's car, 

he saw a light brown rifle in the back.  They all drove to Curiel's house.  On the drive 

over, Jorge told Morales that Jorge was going to fight with Canas and break Canas's car 

windows with the bat.  Morales agreed to help Jorge if Canas got the upper hand in the 

fight. 

 Jorge knocked on the front door of Curiel's house and asked to speak with his 

brother Ricardo.  While he was waiting at the door, he saw Canas's daughter and knew 

Canas had not picked her up yet.  Jorge left the house and walked back to the car, where 
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Perla and Morales waited.  They next drove to the intersection near Curiel's house where 

they had waited for Canas the night before. 

 After waiting at the intersection for a time, they decided to leave.  However, 

Perla's car would not start.  Jorge alone started running back to Curiel's house to get help 

while Perla and Morales waited at the car.  As Jorge ran, he passed Osguera, who was 

walking Canas's young daughter to the street corner to meet Canas.  Another of Curiel's 

children (minor) followed behind Osguera and Canas's daughter. 

 Minor, who was 15 years old at the time of trial and 13 years old at the time of the 

killing, testified she passed Jorge who was quickly walking in the opposite direction, 

toward Curiel's home.  Minor caught up with Osguera and Canas's daughter, and saw 

Morales, whom she knew, further down the road under the hood of the car.  Minor also 

saw Perla.  Minor testified she and Osguera were waiting for Canas to tell him to leave 

with his daughter because Morales and Perla were there waiting for him and minor knew 

that Canas and Ricardo had argued the night before.  Osguera testified Perla approached 

her and told her to leave. 

 After about 10 minutes, Canas arrived at the intersection.  Canas drove past Perla's 

broken-down car and stopped near where Osguera, his daughter and minor waited.  Canas 

opened his driver side door and beckoned Osguera to approach.  Osguera hastily 

approached Canas and told him to take his daughter and leave.  At the same time, 

Morales—who Canas did not then know—approached Canas and said, "Hey, puto, I 

heard you had a problem."  Canas initially thought Morales was joking.  Canas saw Perla, 

who he also did not know at the time, standing near the trunk of her car, staring at him 
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about 10 feet away.  Canas told Osguera to get his daughter in the car and leave just as 

Morales started throwing punches.  Osguera drove off in Canas's car with his daughter. 

 Canas started to throw punches back at Morales.  Canas next saw Morales pull a 

three- to four-inch knife from his waistband, raise it near his ear and point it at Canas.  

Morales then lunged at Canas and cut Canas on the left side of his face.  Morales came at 

Canas again with the knife.  Canas ducked, grabbed Morales's legs, lifted him up and 

slammed him to the ground on his back.  Morales quickly got up and ran towards Perla.  

Canas saw Perla move to the passenger side of the car, reach inside and meet Morales 

near the trunk with a "rifle type weapon" in her hand.  Before Perla handed the rifle to 

Morales, Canas saw her "cock it" by pulling back the hammer of the gun.  Perla also 

pointed the rifle at Canas.4 

 Scared for his life, Canas ran at Morales.  During the struggle, the rifle discharged 

multiple times and Canas suffered three gun shot wounds.  Canas wrestled the rifle away 

from Morales, who got up and began to run away.  Perla also began to run.  Afraid both 

Morales and Perla intended to do him more harm, Canas pointed the rifle at Morales and 

fired.  Morales buckled and fell face down on the ground. 

                                              

4  Osguera testified that she saw Perla pick up from her car what she thought was a 

stick until she realized it was a firearm, point it at Canas and fire two or three shots in his 

direction.  We note the jury found the allegation not true that Perla intentionally 

discharged a firearm during the commission of attempted murder, as provided in Penal 

Code section 12022.53, subdivision (c).  However, it did find true the allegation that 

Perla used a weapon as provided in section 12022.53, subdivision (b).  Thus it is possible 

the jury concluded Perla fired the weapon, but not intentionally. 
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 Canas testified he shot in the direction of Morales about five to ten seconds after 

he gained control of the rifle.  Canas could not tell whether the shots were hitting Morales 

until he fell to the sidewalk.  Canas fired the rifle at least three times until it ran out of 

ammunition. 

 Canas went to Morales to make sure he did not have any additional weapons on 

him.  Canas next looked for Perla because he was afraid she still intended to harm him.  

Canas saw Curiel drive up in her car, start screaming and leave.  Canas still did not know 

his attackers or why they attacked him.  Canas also saw minor standing by an unoccupied 

car. 

 About a minute or two later, Canas saw Curiel drive up again.  This time, 

however, a brown car driven by Ricardo was following closely behind Curiel.  Canas saw 

Perla and an unidentified man, later determined to be Jorge, riding in Curiel's car.  Still 

concerned he would be attacked, Canas spied Perla as she got out of the car and 

approached Morales.  Perla started screaming at Canas for help.  Still holding the rifle, 

which was out of ammunition, Canas responded, "You are kidding me; right?  He just 

tried to kill me.  You want me to help you? . . .  You deal with it."  Perla dragged Morales 

to Curiel's car, put him inside and they transported him to the hospital. 

 Morales died from multiple gunshot wounds.  One bullet entered his right chest 

and lodged in the chest cavity; one bullet entered his right back side and exited his 

stomach; and one bullet entered to the right of his back midline, severed his spinal cord 

and lodged in his vertebrae. 
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 When police arrived at the scene, they confiscated a .22 semi-automatic rifle with 

a magazine capacity of 14.  Police found several expended .22 long-rifle shells casings 

and a pocket knife, with the blade closed, in the street.  Police also found a baseball bat in 

Perla's car and a "bullet strike" in a newly constructed building near the crime scene.  

Inside Perla's car, police found a roll of red duct tape that matched the red "X" on the 

back of her car's rear license plate, ostensibly put there to obscure the plate number. 

 B.  Defense Case 

 Beatrice, the mother of Ricardo, Jorge and Perla, testified Ricardo called her the 

night before the killing in an agitated state and informed her that while driving Canas had 

followed him in his car.  Beatrice in turn called Jorge and Perla.  That evening, they all 

met outside Curiel's home.  Ricardo talked about another incident involving Canas, where 

Ricardo claimed Canas had struck him and then thrown him into the bushes.  Perla was 

upset by Canas's alleged mistreatment of her brother and told Ricardo that if Canas ever 

struck him again, "they" would beat up Canas. 

 Marlen Morales, the sister of Morales, testified she was a "little" angry with Perla 

over the death of her brother.  About four to eight days after he was killed, Marlen and 

her other brother went to the location of the shooting and discovered a "pointy" knife.  

She testified the knife had a black handle, was about 10 inches long, and was a "little 

dirty."  She kicked the knife into a "bush area" because, she testified, she did not want her 

other brother to see it and suffer more.  Marlen had no explanation why she neglected to 

tell the detective investigating her brother's murder, during an interview about eight days 

after his death, about this knife. 
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 C.  Rebuttal 

 Canas testified he had no weapons in his possession, including a knife, the day 

Morales attacked him.  Canas also testified he no weapons in his car, he did not see the 

knife described by Marlen at the crime scene or in anyone else's possession, and the only 

knife he saw on the day of the killing was the one Morales had that was shorter than the 

one described by Marlen. 

 D.  Charges and Conviction 

 Perla was charged with attempted premeditated and deliberate murder (Pen. 

Code,5 §§ 664, 197 [count 1]) and murder (§ 187 [count 2]).  It was further alleged that 

Perla personally used, and personally and intentionally discharged, a firearm in the 

commission of the attempted murder (§ 12022.53, subds. (b), (c)). 

 A jury found Perla guilty of attempted premeditated and deliberate murder and 

first degree murder.  The jury also found the personal use allegation true.  The trial court 

sentenced Perla to state prison for a term of 25 years to life on the murder conviction and 

a concurrent life term, enhanced with the upper term of 10 years for use of the firearm, on 

the attempted murder conviction. 

                                              

5 All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless specified otherwise. 
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DISCUSSION 

 A.  Substantial Evidence 

 Perla contends the evidence is insufficient to support her first degree murder 

conviction under the provocative act murder doctrine because none of her acts was 

sufficiently egregious to provide a deadly response from Canas. 

 1.  Standard of Review 

 Our inquiry follows established principles of review.  "In determining whether the 

evidence is sufficient to support a conviction . . . , 'the relevant question is whether, after 

viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of 

fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.'  

[Citations.]  Under this standard, 'an appellate court in a criminal case . . . does not ask 

itself whether it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a 

reasonable doubt.'  [Citation.]"  (People v. Vy (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 1209, 1224, 

quoting Jackson v. Virginia (1979) U.S. 307, 319 [99 S.Ct. 2781].)  "Rather, the 

reviewing court 'must review the whole record in the light most favorable to the judgment 

below to determine whether it discloses substantial evidence—that is, evidence which is 

reasonable, credible, and of solid value—such that a reasonable trier of fact could find the 

defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.'  [Citation.]"  (Ibid.) 

 2.  Governing Law 

 "The provocative act murder doctrine has traditionally been invoked in cases in 

which the perpetrator of the underlying crime instigates a gun battle, either by firing first 
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or by otherwise engaging in severe, life-threatening, and usually gun-wielding conduct, 

and the police, or a victim of the underlying crime, responds with privileged lethal force 

by shooting back and killing the perpetrator's accomplice or an innocent bystander.  

[Citations.]"  (People v. Cervantes (2001) 26 Cal.4th 860, 867; see also People v. Concha 

(2009) 47 Cal.4th 653, 663 (Concha I) [the provocative act murder doctrine is shorthand 

" 'for that category of intervening-act causation cases in which, during commission of a 

crime, the intermediary (i.e., a police officer or crime victim) is provoked by the 

defendant's conduct into [a response that results] in someone's death.'  [Citation.]") 

 Under this doctrine, " '[w]hen the defendant or his accomplice, with a conscious 

disregard for life, intentionally commits an act that is likely to cause death, and his victim 

or a police officer kills in reasonable response to such act, the defendant is guilty of 

murder.  In such a case, the killing is attributable, not merely to the commission of a 

felon, but to the intentional act of the defendant or his accomplice committed with 

conscious disregard for life.'  [Citation.]"  (People v. Cervantes, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 

868.) 

 "However, the defendant is liable only for those unlawful killings proximately 

caused by the acts of the defendant or his accomplice.  ([People v.] Roberts [1992] 2 

Cal.4th [271,] 320.)  'In all homicide cases in which the conduct of an intermediary is the 

actual cause of death, the defendant's liability will depend on whether it can be 

demonstrated that his own conduct proximately caused the victim's death . . . .'  (People v. 

Cervantes[, supra,] 26 Cal.4th [at p.] 872.)  '[I]f the eventual victim's death is not the 

natural and probable consequence of a defendant's act, then liability cannot attach.'  



13 

 

([People v.] Roberts, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 321.)  Our prior decisions make clear that, 

where the defendant perpetrates an inherently dangerous felony, the victim's self-

defensive killing is a natural and probable response.  (See, e.g., People v. Gilbert (1965) 

63 Cal.2d 690, 705; People v. Caldwell (1984) 36 Cal.3d 210, 220-222.)"  (Concha I, 

supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 661.) 

 A key issue regarding the application of the doctrine is whether the defendant 

committed a provocative act (e.g., the physical or "actus reus" element) that proximately 

caused (e.g., the mental or "mens rea" element) the killing.  (Concha I, supra, 47 Cal.4th 

at p. 660; People v. Briscoe (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th. 568, 582 ["Cases often discuss these 

two elements [actus reus and mens rea] in terms of whether the defendant committed a 

provocative act which proximately caused the killing."]) 

 To constitute a provocative act, the defendant "must commit an act that provokes a 

third party to fire a fatal shot."  (People v. Briscoe, supra, 92 Cal.App.4th at p. 582.)  "In 

cases in which the underlying crime does not involve an intent to kill . . . the mere 

participation in the underlying criminal offense is not sufficient to invoke the doctrine of 

provocative act murder."  (Id. at pp. 582-583.)  In addition, the conduct must demonstrate 

malice, which is properly implied when "the defendant commits an act with a high 

probability that it will result in death and does so with a base antisocial motive or a 

wanton disregard for human life."  (Id. at p. 583.)  "Unless the defendant's conduct is 

sufficiently provocative of a lethal response, it cannot support the finding of implied 

malice necessary for a verdict of guilt on a murder charge.  [Citations.]  Thus, a central 

inquiry in determining a defendant's criminal liability for a killing committed by a 
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resisting victim is whether the defendant's conduct was sufficiently provocative of lethal 

resistance to support a finding of implied malice.  [Citations.]"  (Id. at p. 583.) 

 "The prosecutor must also establish that the defendant's conduct proximately 

caused the killing.  Courts use traditional notions of concurrent and proximate cause in 

order to determine whether the killing was the result of the defendant's conduct.  

[Citations.]  To be considered the proximate cause of the victim's death, the defendant's 

act must have been a substantial factor contributing to the result, rather than insignificant 

or merely theoretical.  [Citations.]  A defendant's provocative acts must actually provoke 

a victim response resulting in an accomplice's death.  [Citation.]"  (People v. Briscoe, 

supra, 92 Cal.App.4th at pp. 583-584, fn. omitted.) 

 "The timing of events is critical.  By necessity, the provocative act must occur 

before a victim may make a lethal response.  [Citation.]  There may be more than one act 

constituting the proximate cause of the killing.  [Citations.]  If the defendant commits 

several acts but only one of them actually provoked a lethal response, only that act may 

constitute the provocative act on which culpability for provocative act murder can be 

based.  [Citations.]  When the chain of causation is somewhat attenuated, the jury decides 

whether murder liability attaches or not.  [Citations.]"  (People v. Briscoe, supra, 92 

Cal.App.4th at p. 584; see also People v. Roberts, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 320, fn. 11 

["[T]here is no bright line demarcating a legally sufficient proximate cause from one that 

is too remote," and thus "[o]rdinarily the question will be for the jury, though in some 

instances undisputed evidence may reveal a cause so remote that a court may properly 

decide that no rational trier of fact could find the needed nexus."]) 
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 3.  Analysis 

 Perla argues she did not engage in any acts in conscious disregard for life that 

would provoke a lethal response from Canas, inasmuch as she neither initiated the assault 

against Canas nor intended to kill him or anyone else. 

 The evidence in the record, as found by the jury, shows otherwise.  Perla had the 

rifle in the car before she picked up Jorge; it was her idea to meet and assault Canas at the 

location where Canas intended to pick up his young daughter; Perla wanted to assault 

Canas because he allegedly was harassing her brother Ricardo; when Morales started 

fighting with Canas, Perla stayed near the car where the rifle was located; after Canas 

appeared to get the upper hand on Morales, Morales pulled a knife on, and cut, Canas; 

after Canas threw him to the ground, Morales next ran back to the car where Perla was 

waiting; Perla grabbed her rifle from her car, cocked it and pointed it at Canas before she 

handed it off to Morales, ostensibly for him to use against Canas; Canas, fearing for his 

life when he saw Perla hand the rifle to Morales, ran at Morales and the two struggled 

over the rifle; during their struggle, Canas was shot three times; and after Canas wrestled 

the rifle away from Morales, within a few seconds Canas shot Morales. 

 We conclude this evidence, which is substantial, amply supports the jury's implied 

finding that Perla's conduct, as opposed to that of her accomplice (see People v. Antick 

(1975) 15 Cal.3d 79, 91-92, disapproved on other grounds as stated in People v. McCoy 

(2001) 25 Cal.4th 1111, 1122), was sufficiently provocative of a lethal response from 

Canas.  (See People v. Briscoe, supra, 92 Cal.App.4th at p. 583 [conduct that initiates a 

gun battle may constitute a provocative act].)  "A defendant can be liable for the unlawful 
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killings of both the intended victim and any unintended victims.  ' "[T]here is no 

requirement of an unlawful intent to kill an intended victim.  The law speaks in terms of 

an unlawful intent to kill a person, not the person intended to be killed" '  [Citations.]"  

(Concha I, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 660.) 

 In addition, we note the jury also found Perla committed attempted murder of 

Canas and personally used a firearm in connection with the attempt.  Significantly, we 

note Perla is not challenging the jury's explicit finding she "intended to kill" for purposes 

of attempted murder.  Attempted murder is a provocative act sufficient to support murder 

liability.  (See People v. Gallegos (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 453, 460-461.) 

 Certainly, the jury was entitled to consider the inferences Perla urges in this appeal 

(e.g., her acts were insufficient to provoke a lethal response from Canas, and she did not 

intend to kill).  (People v. Roy (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 537, 552, disapproved on other 

grounds as stated in People v. Ray (1975) 14 Cal.3d 20, 32 ["Sufficiency of provocation 

and whether a defendant in fact acted under such provocation are questions of fact for the 

jury"], disapproved on other grounds as stated in People v. Lasko (2000) 23 Cal.4th 101, 

110.)  Just as certain, however, the jury also was entitled to reject those inferences.  (See 

People v. Hillhouse (2002) 27 Cal.4th 469, 496; see also People v. Carter (2005) 36 

Cal.4th 1215, 1257-1258.) 

 For the same reasons, we conclude there is sufficient evidence to support the jury's 

(implied) finding that Perla's provocative acts proximately caused the killing of Morales.  

That is, there is abundant evidence in the record to support the finding that Morales's 

death was the "natural and probable consequence" of Perla's acts of cocking the rifle she 
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brought to assault Canas.  (See Concha I, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 661.)  A reasonable jury 

could infer from such evidence that Perla's acts proximately caused the killing. 

 B.  Instructional Error—CALCRIM Nos. 560 and 561 

 Perla next complains the trial court erred when it instructed the jury on 

provocative act murder using CALCRIM No. 560,6 rather than CALCRIM No. 561.7 

                                              

6 CALCRIM No. 560 provides:  "[The defendant is charged [in Count _____] with 

_____<insert underlying crime>.]  The defendant is [also] charged [in Count _____] 

with murder.  A person can be guilty of murder under the provocative act doctrine even if 

someone else did the actual killing. 

 

"To prove that the defendant is guilty of murder under the provocative act doctrine, the 

People must prove that: 

 "1.  In (committing/ [or] attempting to commit) _____<insert underlying crime>, 

the defendant intentionally did a provocative act; 

 "2.  The defendant knew that the natural and probable consequences of the 

provocative act were dangerous to human life and then acted with conscious disregard for 

life; 

 "3.  In response to the defendant's provocative act, _____<insert name or 

description of third party> killed _____<insert name of decedent>; 

 "AND 

 "4.  _____'s <insert name of decedent> death was the natural and probable 

consequence of the defendant's provocative act. 

 

"A provocative act is an act: 

 "1.  [That goes beyond what is necessary to accomplish the _____<insert 

underlying crime>;] 

 "[AND 

 "2.]  Whose natural and probable consequences are dangerous to human life, 

because there is a high probability that the act will provoke a deadly response. 

 

"In order to prove that _____'s <insert name of decedent> death was the natural and 

probable consequence of the defendant's provocative act, the People must prove that: 

 "1.  A reasonable person in the defendant's position would have foreseen that there 

was a high probability that his or her act could begin a chain of events resulting in 

someone's death; 
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 "2.  The defendant's act was a direct and substantial factor in causing _____'s 

<insert name of decedent> death; 

 "AND 

 "3.  _____'s <insert name of decedent> death would not have happened if the 

defendant had not committed the provocative act. 

 

"A substantial factor is more than a trivial or remote factor.  However, it does not need to 

be the only factor that caused the death. 

 

"<Multiple Provocative Acts> 

 

"[The People alleged that the defendant committed the following provocative acts:  

_____<insert acts alleged>.  You may not find the defendant guilty unless you all agree 

that the People have proved that the defendant committed at least one of these acts.  

However, you do not all need to agree on which act.] 

 

"<Independent Criminal Act> 

 

["A defendant is not guilty of murder if the killing of _____<insert name of decedent> 

was caused solely by the independent criminal act of someone else. An independent 

criminal act is a free, deliberate, and informed criminal act by a person who is not acting 

with the defendant.] 

 

"<Degree of Murder> 

 

"[If you decide that the defendant is guilty of murder, you must decide whether the 

murder is first or second degree. 

 

"To prove that the defendant is guilty of first degree murder, the People must prove that: 

 "1.  As a result of the defendant's provocative act, _____<insert name of 

decedent> was killed during the commission of _____<insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony>; 

 "AND 

 "2.  Defendant intended to commit _____<insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony> when 

(he/she) did the provocative act. 

 

"In deciding whether the defendant intended to commit _____<insert Pen. Code, § 189 

felony> and whether the death occurred during the commission of <insert Pen. Code, § 

189 felony>, you should refer to the instructions I have given you on _____<insert Pen. 

Code, § 189 felony>. 

 

"Any murder that does not meet these requirements for first degree murder is second 

degree murder.] 
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"[If you decide that the defendant committed murder, that crime is murder in the second 

degree.]" 

 

 

7 CALCRIM No. 561 provides:  "[The defendant is charged [in Count _____] with 

_____<insert underlying crime>.]  The defendant is [also] charged [in Count _____] 

with murder.  A person can be guilty of murder under the provocative act doctrine even if 

someone else did the actual killing. 

"To prove that the defendant is guilty of murder under the provocative act doctrine, the 

People must prove that: 

 "1.  The defendant was an accomplice of _____<insert name[s] or description[s] 

of alleged provocateur[s]> in (committing/ [or] attempting to commit) _____<insert 

underlying crime>; 

 "2.  In (committing/ [or] attempting to commit) _____<insert underlying crime>, 

_____<insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> intentionally did a 

provocative act; 

 "3. _____ <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> knew that 

the natural and probable consequences of the provocative act were dangerous to human 

life and then acted with conscious disregard for life; 

 "4.  In response to _____'s <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged 

provocateur[s]> provocative act, _____<insert name or description of third party> 

killed _____<insert name of decedent>; 

 "AND 

 "5. _____ 's <insert name of decedent> death was the natural and probable 

consequence of _____'s <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> 

provocative act. 

 

"A provocative act is an act: 

 "1 [That goes beyond what is necessary to accomplish the _____<insert 

underlying crime>;] 

 "[AND 

 "2.] Whose natural and probable consequences are dangerous to human life, 

because there is a high probability that the act will provoke a deadly response. 

 

"The defendant is an accomplice of _____<insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged 

provocateur[s]> if the defendant is subject to prosecution for the identical offense that 

you conclude _____<insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> 

(committed/ [or] attempted to commit).  The defendant is subject to prosecution if 

(he/she) (committed/ [or] attempted to commit) the crime or if: 
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 "1.  (He/She) knew of _____'s <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged 

provocateur[s]> criminal purpose to commit _____<insert underlying crime>; 

 "AND 

 "2.  The defendant intended to, and did in fact, (aid, facilitate, promote, encourage, 

or instigate the commission of _____<insert underlying crime>/ [or] participate in a 

criminal conspiracy to commit _____<insert underlying crime>). 

 

"[An accomplice does not need to be present when the crime is committed.  On the other 

hand, a person is not an accomplice just because he or she is at the scene of a crime, even 

if he or she knows that a crime [will be committed or] is being committed and does 

nothing to stop it.] 

 

"In order to prove that _____'s <insert name of decedent> death was the natural and 

probable consequence of _____'s <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged 

provocateur[s]> provocative act, the People must prove that: 

 "1.  A reasonable person in _____'s <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged 

provocateur[s]> position would have foreseen that there was a high probability that 

(his/her/their) act could begin a chain of events resulting in someone's death; 

 "2.  _____ 's <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> act 

was a direct and substantial factor in causing _____'s <insert name of decedent> death; 

 "AND 

 "3. _____ 's <insert name or description of decedent> death would not have 

happened if _____<insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> had not 

committed the provocative act. 

 

"A substantial factor is more than a trivial or remote factor. However, it does not need to 

be the only factor that caused the death. 

 

"<Multiple Provocative Acts> 

 

"[The People alleged the following provocative acts:  _____<insert acts alleged>. You 

may not find the defendant guilty unless you all agree that the People have proved that: 

 "1.  _____ <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> 

committed at least one provocative act; 

 "AND 

 "2.  At least one of the provocative acts committed by _____<insert name[s] or 

description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> was a direct and substantial factor that caused 

the killing. 

 

"However, you do not all need to agree on which provocative act has been proved.] 

 

"<Accomplice Deceased> 
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"[If you decide that the only provocative act that caused _____'s <insert name of 

deceased accomplice> death was committed by _____<insert name of deceased 

accomplice>, then the defendant is not guilty of _____'s <insert name of deceased 

accomplice> murder.] 

 

"<Independent Criminal Act> 

 

"[A defendant is not guilty of murder if the killing of _____<insert name or description 

of decedent> was caused solely by the independent criminal act of someone other than 

the defendant or _____<insert name[s] or description[s] of all alleged accomplice[s]>.  

"An independent criminal act is a free, deliberate, and informed criminal act by a person 

who is not acting with the defendant.] 

 

"<Degree of Murder> 

 

"[If you decide that the defendant is guilty of murder, you must decide whether the 

murder is first or second degree. 

"To prove that the defendant is guilty of first degree murder, the People must prove that: 

 "l.  As a result of _____'s <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged 

provocateur[s]> provocative act, _____<insert name of decedent> was killed while 

_____<insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> (was/were) 

committing _____<insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony>; 

 "AND 

 "2.  _____<insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> 

specifically intended to commit _____<insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony> when 

(he/she/they) did the provocative act. 

 

"In deciding whether _____<insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> 

intended to commit _____<insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony> and whether the death 

occurred during the commission of _____<insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony>, you should 

refer to the instructions I have given you on <insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony>. 

 

"Any murder that does not meet these requirements for first degree murder is second 

degree murder.] 

 

"[If you decide that the defendant committed murder, that crime is murder in the second 

degree.]" 
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 1.  Forfeiture 

 Generally, " '[a] party may not complain on appeal that an instruction correct in 

law and responsive to the evidence was too general or incomplete unless the party has 

requested appropriate clarifying or amplifying language.' "  (People v. Hart (1999) 20 

Cal.4th 546, 622; People v. Fiu (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 360, 370.) 

 Here, the record shows trial counsel had myriad discussions regarding the jury 

instructions, including CALCRIM No. 560 which defense counsel referred to on several 

occasions as the governing instruction for provocative act murder.  Moreover, before the 

court instructed the jury, it asked trial counsel if there were any further objections to the 

instructions or requests for additional instructions.  Both the prosecutor and defense 

counsel responded no. 

 Although Perla's claim of instructional error was forfeited, we address the merits 

of that claim in light of her alternative argument that defense counsel rendered ineffective 

assistance by failing to request CALCRIM No. 561 in lieu of No. 560.  (See People v. 

Williams (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 649, 657 [addressing the merits of a claim, despite its 

forfeiture, because defendant asserted ineffective assistance of counsel].) 

 2.  No Instructional Error 

 Perla contends the trial court erred by instructing the jury on provocative act 

murder under CALCRIM No. 560, rather than CALCRIM No. 561, which she claims is 

the recommended instruction when the provocative acts are committed by an accomplice.  

Perla contends there is a "critical distinction" between the two instructions based on the 

language of No. 561, which instructs the jury to find the defendant not guilty if it decides 
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the provocative acts that caused the accomplice's death were committed only by the 

accomplice, and not the defendant.8  Thus, she contends the alleged instructional error 

permitted the jury to convict her of murder based solely on the provocative acts of 

Morales, contrary to the law of provocative act murder. 

 "In reviewing a claim of error in jury instructions in a criminal case, this court 

must first consider the jury instructions as a whole to determine whether error has been 

committed.  [Citations.]  We may not judge a single jury instruction in artificial isolation, 

but must view it in the context of the charge and the entire trial record."  (People v. 

Moore (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1323, 1330-1331; see also People v. Guiton (1993) 4 

Cal.4th 1116, 1130 [in examining the question of prejudice from instructional error, an 

appellate court should look to the entire record, including the evidence and arguments of 

counsel].) 

 "An appellate court cannot set aside a judgment on the basis of instructional error 

unless, after an examination of the entire record, the court concludes that the error has 

resulted in a miscarriage of justice.  [Citation.]  A miscarriage of justice occurs only 

when it is reasonably probable that the jury would have reached a result more favorable 

to the appellant absent the error.  [Citations]"  (People v. Moore, supra, 44 Cal.App.4th at 

                                              

8  The portion of CALCRIM NO. 561 relevant to this analysis provides:  

"<Accomplice Deceased> 

 

"[If you decide that the only provocative act that caused _____'s <insert name of 

deceased accomplice> death was committed by _____<insert name of deceased 

accomplice>, then the defendant is not guilty of 's _____<insert name of deceased 

accomplice> murder.]" 
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p. 1331; see also People v. Kelly (1992) 1 Cal.4th 495, 525 [when a defendant claims that 

a jury instruction misstated the law, a reviewing court considers the charge in its entirety 

to determine whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury misunderstood the 

applicable law].)  We independently review the legal adequacy of a jury instruction.  

(People v. Cole (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1158, 1210.) 

 Here, we note CALCRIM No. 560 instructed the jury that Perla could not be guilty 

of provocative act murder unless the prosecution proved, among other elements, that 

"defendant [e.g., Perla] intentionally did a provocative act"; that "defendant knew that the 

natural and probable consequences of the provocative act were dangerous to human life 

and then acted with conscious disregard for life"; that "in response to the defendant's 

provocative act," Canas killed Morales; and that Morales's death "was the natural and 

probable consequence of the defendant's provocative act."  (Italics added.) 

 Reviewing the instructions as a whole (see People v. Moore, supra, 44 

Cal.App.4th at pp. 1330-1331), we independently conclude the jury was properly 

instructed that Perla could not be guilty of provocative act murder unless the prosecution 

proved it was her acts, as opposed to those of Morales, that proximately caused his death.  

In other words, the instruction did not permit the jury to find Perla guilty of provocative 

act murder based solely on the provocative acts of Morales, as she contends. 

 Our conclusion is further supported by counsel's argument to the jury.  (See 

People v. Guiton, supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1130.)  The prosecutor argued that Perla was 

guilty of murder because her act of pulling out the rifle and handing it to Morales was 

dangerous and caused his death because Morales and Perla had "ambushed" Canas and 



25 

 

because Perla "introduced a rifle into the equation" in what had become a life and death 

struggle between the two men. 

 Defense counsel likewise argued to the jury that it was to focus on Perla's 

conduct—or lack thereof—in finding her not guilty of Morales's murder.  Indeed, the 

defense argued that it was the independent acts of Morales and/or Canas (e.g., an 

independent intervening cause) that led to Morales's death, and that Perla's act of taking 

out the rifle and handing it to Morales was insufficient to convict her of murder under the 

provocative act murder doctrine. 

 Based on the instructional language given the jury and counsels' closing argument, 

we conclude that even if the trial court erred when it gave CALCRIM No. 560 and not 

CALCRIM No. 561, it is not reasonably probable that the jury misunderstood the 

applicable law and would have reached a result more favorable to Perla absent the error.  

(See People v. Kelly, supra, 1 Cal.4th at p. 525; People v. Moore, supra, 44 Cal.App.4th 

at p. 1331.) 

 C.  Instructional Error—Premeditation and Deliberation9 

 In its instruction on provocative act murder under CALCRIM No. 560, the trial 

court told the jury:  "If you decide that the defendant is guilty of murder, you must decide 

whether the murder is first or second degree.  [¶] To prove that the defendant is guilty of 

first degree murder, the People must prove that:  [¶] One, as a result of the defendant's 

provocative act, Fernando Morales was killed during the commission of attempted 

                                              

9  We note the People have not raised forfeiture as an issue in connection with this 

claim of error.  (See People v. Hart, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 622.) 
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willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder; and [¶] Two, defendant intended to commit 

attempted willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder when she did the provocative act.  

[¶]  In deciding whether the defendant intended to commit attempted willful, deliberate, 

and premeditated murder and whether the death occurred during the commission of 

attempted, willful, deliberate murder, you should refer to the instructions I have given 

you on attempted willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder."  (Italics added.) 

 Pursuant to CALCRIM No. 601, the trial court also instructed the jury on the 

requirements for determining whether the attempted murder was premeditated and 

deliberate:  "If you find the defendant guilty of attempted murder under Count 1, you 

must then decide whether the People have proved the additional allegation that the 

attempted murder was done willfully and with deliberation and premeditation.  [¶] The 

defendant Perla Gonzalez acted willfully if she intended to kill when she acted.  The 

defendant Perla Gonzalez deliberated if she carefully weighed the considerations for and 

against her choice and, knowing the consequences, decided to kill.  The defendant Perla 

Gonzalez premeditated if she decided to kill before acting.  [¶] The attempted murder was 

done willfully and with deliberation and premeditation if either the defendant or 

Fernando Morales or both of them acted with that state of mind."  (Italics added.) 

 Perla contends the trial court committed prejudicial error by instructing the jury on 

the above italicized portion of CALCRIM No. 601 because it permitted the jury to find 

her guilty of first degree murder without determining whether she personally acted 

deliberately and with premeditation. 
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 Our Supreme Court recently addressed this exact issue involving a nearly identical 

jury instruction in Concha I, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 666.  There, the court resolved once 

and for all that a defendant could be guilty of murder in the first degree under a 

provocative act murder theory if the defendant personally acted with deliberation and 

premeditation during the attempted murder.  (Id. at p. 658.)  In Concha I the trial court 

referred the jury to the instruction on attempt, which appropriately allows a defendant to 

be held vicariously liable for the mens rea of an accomplice.  (See id. at p. 665 ["[F]or 

murder, a defendant cannot be held vicariously liable for the mens rea of an accomplice" 

but the "same is not true for an attempted murder that is willful, deliberate, and 

premeditated" in which case a "defendant may be vicariously liable for the premeditated 

and deliberate component of the means rea of an accomplice."]) 

 However, our Supreme Court in Concha I concluded the trial court erred when 

instructing the jury on first degree murder, as opposed to attempted murder, "by not 

providing an instruction that explained that for a defendant to be found guilty of first 

degree murder, [the defendant] personally has to have acted willfully, deliberately, and 

with premeditation when [the defendant] committed the attempted murder."  (Concha I, 

supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 666.)  The court thus remanded the matter to the court to 

determine whether the instructional error prejudiced defendants with respect to their first 

degree murder conviction. 

 On remand, the court in People v. Concha (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1072, 1075 

(Concha II), review denied June 9, 2010, held the instructional error harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt because a rational jury would have found based on the evidence that 



28 

 

each defendant deliberated and premeditated the attempted murder of the victim, who in 

defending himself killed one of the accomplices. 

 We note the court in Concha II considered at length the proper test to be used on 

appeal where the jury has not been instructed on an element of the offense.  Before 

selecting the harmless error standard, the court thoroughly reviewed California and 

United States Supreme Court decisions involving instructional errors of omission and 

misdescription of offenses.  (Concha II, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1085-1087.)  In 

particular, the Concha II court examined the reasoning of the majority in Neder v. United 

States (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 15 [119 S.Ct. 1827], where the United States Supreme Court 

noted the harmless error test strikes the appropriate balance between protecting the 

defendant, on the one hand, and maintaining public respect and confidence in the court 

system, on the other hand. 

 Citing Justice Baxter's concurring opinion in People v. Cross (2008) 45 Cal.4th 

58, 71, the court in Concha II further elaborated that the harmless error test does not 

depend on proof that the jury actually rested its verdict on the proper ground, but on 

proof beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found guilt even absent 

the error.  (Concha II, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1087.)  The test may require a 

detailed examination of the record and the evidence produced by the defendant.  (Ibid.)  

When, for example, the defendant does not contest the omitted element and fails to raise 

sufficient evidence to support a contrary finding, the error should be deemed harmless.  

(Ibid.) 
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 Like the court in Concha II, we recognize a minority view exists that concludes 

that where there is an omission or misdirection to the jury as to an element of the offense, 

using the harmless error test improperly allows the reviewing court to reweigh the 

evidence.  However, that view is still a minority view.  (See Concha II, supra, 182 

Cal.App.4th at p. 1086, fn. 9.)  We are bound to follow the clear direction of the 

California Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court. 

 Finally, we note that while the jury in the case before us asked a question during 

deliberations about Perla's mental state, we conclude that fact alone does not alter 

application of the harmless error standard.  We agree the question was an important one 

on the issue of whether further instruction was needed.  The court's answer to the jury 

question constitutes the instructional error.  If we were to take a further step and conclude 

the jury question alone requires reversal of this issue, we would be applying a per se 

reversible error standard, which is contrary to substantial controlling authority.  We are 

unwilling to take that step. 

 Briefly, in Concha II the victim drove up to his business late at night, and parked 

his car in an alley.  Before he got out of his car, the victim was met by two men who 

threatened him and attempted to rob him.  Two other men stood watch nearby.  The 

victim briefly fought with his four attackers in the alley and then began running down a 

street.  The four men followed the victim for a quarter of a mile.  As the victim ran, he 

called out for help and tried to use his mobile phone.  His attackers caught up with him as 

he tried to scale a fence, and began to stab the victim in the back.  The victim 

remembered he had a small pocket knife, he pulled it out, faced his four attackers and 
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began to stab them out of fear for his own life.  The victim again ran from his attackers to 

the front door of a nearby house, where he cried out for help and banged on the door.  

Eventually the occupants of the house opened the door, saw the victim bleeding profusely 

from multiple cuts and called the police.  (Concha II, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1076-

1077.) 

 According to the defendants, because the parties and the jury were unaware of the 

personal willful, deliberate, and premeditation requirement as to the first degree murder 

count, the jury could not have made, and did not make, the requisite finding to support 

that conviction, nor could the court do so on remand.  The court rejected this argument, 

and reasoned:  "Defendants, however, misperceive the harmless error standard applicable 

to a case such as this one, in which the instructional error did not require the jury to make 

a finding on an essential element of the offense—a willful, deliberate and premeditated 

killing.  As discussed above, based on the authorities, we do not have to determine if the 

verdicts reflect that the jury actually determined that both defendants deliberated and 

premeditated the attempted murder.  Rather, we may review the entire record to 

determine whether it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have 

made the necessary findings of premeditation and deliberation absent the error."  

(Concha II, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1089, italics added.) 

 The court then reviewed the evidence in the record and concluded from it that a 

"rational jury would have found that each defendant deliberated and premeditated the 

attempted murder of [the victim]."  (Concha II, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1089.)  

Specifically, the court found that two defendants confronted the victim in the alley, 
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demanded money and twice threatened to kill him.  After the victim resisted his four 

attackers, they fought with him in the alley, and then chased him for a quarter of a mile 

with beer bottles, which they used to beat and stab the victim.  The court noted the assault 

against the victim was sufficiently severe that the victim received multiple stab wounds 

to his head and body, requiring 60 stitches to close.  (Ibid.) 

 The court in Concha II also noted that the jury returned guilty verdicts on the 

attempted murder counts, which required the jury to find that each defendant intended to 

kill the victim, or shared in the other's intent to kill, and that the jury found true each 

defendant personally committed a provocative act during the attempted murder of the 

victim and one of the defendants personally used a deadly weapon—a beer bottle—

during the attempted murder.  (Concha II, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1090.) 

 In response to the argument of defendants that the evidence at trial was 

controverted regarding their lack of premeditation and deliberation, the court found the 

evidence submitted by defendants "dealt with their participation in the murder and their 

intent to kill, and the jury found against them on those points.  [Defendants] did not 

contest the facts that go specifically to premeditation and deliberation—the confrontation 

in the alley, the chase, the cornering of [the victim] and the repeated stab wounds with a 

deadly weapon.  Premeditation and deliberation was submitted to the jury on the 

attempted murder counts; thus defendants had the opportunity to address those elements.  

The facts supporting premeditation and deliberation are uncontradicted once the intent 

element was established.  Although the jury verdict is deficient in that there was not a 

finding of premeditation and deliberation as to each defendant, the jury did nevertheless 
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render a verdict of first degree murder against both defendants.  Based on the evidence, 

the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error."  (Concha II, supra, 182 

Cal.App.4th at p. 1090.) 

 We conclude Concha I and Concha II are instructive here.10  Like the trial court 

in Concha I, the trial court here instructed the jury on premeditation and deliberation for 

first degree murder by referring the jury to the instruction on first degree attempted 

murder, which as Concha I teaches, was error because unlike attempted murder, for 

murder a "defendant cannot be held vicariously liable for the mens rea of an 

accomplice."11  (Concha I, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 665.)  Nonetheless, like the court in 

Concha II, we conclude the trial court's instructional "error" was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt because the evidence before us shows a rational jury would have found 

Perla personally deliberated and premeditated the attempted murder of Canas. 

 Indeed, the evidence of Perla's premeditation and deliberation in the attempted 

murder of Canas is equally as strong, if not stronger, than the evidence of attempt against 

                                              

10  That there were two defendants in Concha I and II, whereas there is only one 

defendant here—Perla, makes absolutely no difference in our analysis because just like 

Morales in the case at bar, one of the accomplices in Concha I and II also died (e.g., a 

murder occurred).  If the court in Concha II had ruled the jury could have found the dead 

accomplice alone premeditated and deliberated the attempt and ignored the conduct of the 

other three accomplices, the court there could not have reached the conclusion it did—

that the jury instruction, while deficient, resulted in harmless error. 

11  We note that defense counsel participated in a myriad of discussions regarding 

jury instructions and never requested additional instruction on Perla's personal intent to 

murder the victim.  Nor did defense counsel argue the jury was required to make specific 

findings as to her intent to murder the victim.  We understand of course that the state of 

the law during this trial would have led counsel to accept the trial court's version of the 

law, as instructed, inasmuch as Concha I was decided after the trial was concluded. 
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the defendants in Concha I and II.  In addition, we note such evidence against Perla was 

uncontroverted, in contrast to the evidence of her intent to kill, which the jury found in 

convicting her of first degree attempted murder.  Perla has not challenged that finding on 

appeal. 

 The record contains uncontroverted evidence showing Perla personally 

premeditated and deliberated the attempted murder of Canas:  Perla had been outside 

Curiel's house the night before Morales was killed because of a dispute between Canas 

and her brother Ricardo; Perla planned the assault on Canas the following day; Perla 

called Curiel on the morning of the killing and learned that Canas intended to pick up his 

daughter at a predetermined location; Perla first drove Morales and Jorge to Curiel's 

house to make sure Canas's daughter was still at home and had not been picked up by 

Canas; Perla and her accomplices discussed how the assault against Canas would take 

place; Perla drove to the intersection where Canas was to pick up his daughter, parked 

the car and waited for Canas; Perla brought a loaded rifle to the assault; Perla stood 

about 10 feet away from where Canas and her boyfriend fought, by her car where her 

loaded rifle was located; Perla did not attempt to break up the fight between the two men; 

Perla grabbed her loaded rifle from the car after Canas successfully fought off Morales's 

knife attack; Perla grabbed her rifle on her own accord; Perla cocked her rifle with her 

left hand and pointed it at Canas; and Perla next handed the rifle, which was ready to 

fire, to Morales, as Morales ran toward her after the assault had turned deadly.  

 Our dissenting colleague largely ignores most of this evidence in arguing that the 

"extent of Perla's participation in the attempted murder of Canas appears to have been 
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limited to her handing the firearm to Morales."  (Conc. & dis. opn, p. 3, italics added.)  

We note, however, the issue is not merely Perla's participation in the attempted murder 

of Canas, but rather whether she personally premeditated and deliberated in connection 

with that attempt.  In any event, Perla clearly did more than merely hand the rifle to 

Morales, as it was Perla's idea, among other things, to assault Canas in the first place; it 

was Perla's rifle; it was Perla's decision to bring the loaded rifle to the assault; and it was 

Perla's decision to pull out the rifle from her car, when the assault had turned deadly, 

cock it and hand it to Morales to use against Canas.   

 Unlike our dissenting colleague, we conclude such evidence amply proves the 

reflection in advance and weighing of considerations sufficient to establish beyond a 

reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found Perla, as opposed to her 

accomplice, personally premeditated and deliberated the attempted murder of Canas.  

(See Concha II, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1075, 1090.)   

 Lastly, we also disagree with our dissenting colleague that the trial court "directed 

the jury to an instruction that grossly misstated the law regarding a key distinction 

between first and second degree murder."  (Conc. & dis. opn., p. 4, italics added.)  As we 

already have noted the trial court here relied on CALCRIM Nos. 560 and 601 as they 

then existed, before Concha I was decided by our Supreme Court.  Although Concha I 

concluded these instructions were improper as we discussed ante, we do not agree it was 

a gross misstatement of the law, nor do we agree that this error took on additional 

significance because the trial court repeated what was then a proper instruction a second 
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time during deliberations in response to a jury question.  For these reasons, we conclude 

the instructional error by the trial court was harmless. 

 D.  Instructional Error—Lawful Killing for Provocative Act Murder12 

 Perla next contends the jury should have been told the provocative act theory of 

murder could not properly apply if Canas used lethal force solely to prevent an escape, 

rather than in response to a provocative act.  Because this principle exonerates, the 

argument runs, it therefore constitutes a defense, and either the trial court had a sua 

sponte duty to give an appropriate instruction delineating it for the jury, or defense 

counsel rendered Perla ineffective assistance for failing to request such an instruction. 

 The trial court's instruction to the jury included the following paragraph from 

CALCRIM No. 560:  "A defendant is not guilty of the murder of Fernando Morales—or I 

am sorry—if the killing of Fernando Morales was caused solely by the independent 

criminal act of someone else.  An independent criminal act is a free, deliberate, and 

informed criminal act by a person who is not acting with the defendant." 

 During closing argument, counsel reinforced the need for the jury to evaluate 

"self-defense" in assessing whether Canas's killing of Morales was criminal and, thus, an 

independent act undermining the provocative act murder doctrine.  The prosecutor argued 

that Canas had the right to defend himself in light of the deadly attack by Morales. 

 Defense counsel, however, contended that Canas had no right to shoot Morales in 

the back as he was running away and even contended that one shot was fired while 

                                              

12  See footnote 9, post. 
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Morales was lying on the ground.  Defense counsel also contended that Canas's shooting 

of Morales was not self-defense and, because it was not, "[t]hat's an independent act."  As 

such, defense counsel contended, "[t]hat [independent act] is something that gets in 

between, and you cannot then justify putting Fernando Morales's[s] . . . death on [Perla]." 

 In reply, the prosecutor argued that for Canas to be acting in self-defense, there 

was no requirement that he only fire one shot or shoot at a particular area of the body.  

The prosecutor also told the jury that Canas had the right to defend himself and that 

Canas was not an intervening criminal act because he committed no crime by defending 

himself. 

 We have found no case to support Perla's argument that the trial court erred when 

it failed to give sua sponte an instruction on self-defense as it pertains to the victim Canas 

and whether he was legally justified in shooting Morales as Morales ran away.13  This is 

because the issue of whether the killing was lawfully justified is rooted in principles of 

proximate cause, and not self-defense.  (See Concha I, supra, 47 Cal.4th at pp. 660-661; 

People v. Cervantes, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 866.)  Indeed, our Supreme Court in 

Concha I recently confirmed that principles of proximate cause govern in determining 

whether a killing is attributable to the (provocative) act of defendant:  "[T]he defendant is 

liable only for those unlawful killings proximately caused by the acts of the defendant or 

his accomplice.  [Citation.]  'In all homicide cases in which the conduct of an 

                                              

13  Perla cites People v. Keys (1944) 62 Cal.App.2d 903, 916, as her only support the 

trial court erred when it failed to give the self-defense instruction.  However, People v. 

Keys has absolutely nothing to do with provocative act murder, and thus is inapposite 

here. 
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intermediary is the actual cause of death, the defendant's liability will depend on whether 

it can be demonstrated that his own conduct proximately caused the victim's death . . . .'  

[Citation.]  '[I]f the eventual victim's death is not the natural and probable consequence of 

a defendant's act, then liability cannot attach.'  [Citation.] "  (People v. Concha, supra, 47 

Cal.4th at p. 661.) 

 Thus, the trial court here did not err when it failed sua sponte to instruct on self-

defense as it pertained to Canas and whether he was legally justified in shooting Morales 

just seconds after Canas, who himself was shot three times, wrestled the rifle away from 

Morales.  Defense counsel also did not render ineffective assistance by neglecting to ask 

for such an instruction, and instead properly focused his argument on proximate cause in 

arguing that Canas was an independent intervening cause, absolving Perla of liability for 

the murder of Morales, which the jury rejected.14 

 E.  Instructional Error—Failing to Instruct on Involuntary Manslaughter 

 Finally, Perla contends the trial court erred when it failed to instruct the jury on 

involuntary manslaughter as a lesser included offense of murder.  Defense counsel 

requested the jury be instructed on "all lesser-included offenses to both Counts 1 and 2," 

including involuntary manslaughter based on Perla's act of brandishing the gun.  (See 

generally § 417.) 

                                              

14  However, assuming arguendo the trial court erred when it failed to instruct the jury 

that Canas had to be acting in lawful self-defense when he fired the rifle in the direction 

of, or at, Morales after he wrestled it away from Morales, we conclude that error was 

harmless because it was not "reasonably probable" Perla would have obtained a more 

favorable outcome had the alleged instructional error not occurred.  (See People v. 

Breverman (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, 178.) 
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 The trial court refused to instruct on involuntary manslaughter, ruling:  "Here is 

the problem I have [with involuntary manslaughter].  I think I said it before.  I don't know 

how you get around this. . . .  [T]he problem is with provocative act murder, provocative 

act provides if it's proven that she intentionally—I think all the evidence is she took the 

gun out . . . I am assuming that that evidence is correct; maybe it isn't.  But if the 

evidence—most of the evidence in this case has suggested that Ms. Gonzalez took the 

gun out of the car and at some point handed it to Fernando Morales.  [¶] Provocative act 

gives—as long as that's intentional—and I don't see any evidence it wasn't, getting the 

gun out and giving it to him in that situation . . . .  [¶] The argument on voluntary 

[manslaughter] is that self-defense—or imperfect self-defense or heat of passion might 

negate the intent and therefore it would mean that it wasn't an intentional provocative act.  

But here I can't see how it wasn't intentional." 

 It is axiomatic that a " 'trial court must instruct on a lesser offense necessarily 

included in the charged offense if there is substantial evidence the defendant is guilty 

only of the lesser.'  [Citation.]"  (People v. Lacefield (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 249, 256; 

see also People v. Moye (2009) 47 Cal.4th 537, 548.)  "On the other hand, the court is not 

obliged to instruct on theories that have no such evidentiary support . . . .  [¶] . . . .  

'Substantial evidence' in this context is ' "evidence from which a jury composed of 

reasonable [persons] could . . . conclude[ ]" ' that the lesser offense, but not the greater, 

was committed.  [Citations.]"  (People v. Breverman, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 162.) 

 Although involuntary manslaughter includes a killing that "occurs during the 

commission of a " 'noninherently dangerous felony,' " " 'the killing must be 
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unintentional' " and without malice.  (People v. Dixon (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 1547, 

1556.)  Where the evidence unmistakably shows an intentional killing, no instruction on 

involuntary manslaughter is required.  (Id. at pp. 1556-1557 [no involuntary 

manslaughter instruction required when the defendant fired five or six shots at victim, 

twice hitting the victim in the back]; People v. Hendricks (1988) 44 Cal.3d 635, 643 [no 

involuntary manslaughter instruction required when, although the defendant denied intent 

to kill, he shot victims six times and five times respectively at point-blank range].) 

 Here, the evidence shows Perla grabbed the rifle, cocked it and handed it to 

Morales after Morales had pulled a knife on, and cut, Canas, during a fight instigated by 

Morales and Perla, his accomplice, that had turned deadly.  Based on such evidence, the 

jury determined Perla intentionally did a provocative act, she knew that the natural and 

probable consequences of the provocative act were dangerous to human life and then 

acted with conscious disregard for life.  On this record, we conclude the trial court did not 

err in refusing to instruct on involuntary manslaughter. 

DISPOSITION 

 The judgment of conviction is affirmed. 

 

 

      

BENKE, Acting P. J. 

 

I CONCUR: 

 

  

 IRION, J. 



 

Aaron, J., concurring and dissenting: 

 I concur with the majority opinion, with the exception of section C (maj. opn., 

p. 25), because I disagree with the majority's conclusion that this court may deem the trial 

court's instructional error on the intent element of provocative act murder harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt.   

 The majority concludes that the trial court erred in instructing the jury with respect 

to premeditation and deliberation in relation to the charge of provocative act murder, but 

further concludes that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because, in its 

view, "the evidence before us shows a rational jury would have found Perla personally 

deliberated and premeditated the attempted murder of Canas."  (Maj. opn., p. 32.) 

 During deliberations, the jury in this case sent a note to the trial court requesting 

an instruction on second degree murder.  The jury note reads, "Is #39 for second degree 

murder?1  We need an explanation of 2nd degree murder."  In response, the court replied, 

"No," and referred the jury to CALCRIM 560, which in turn, referred the jury to the 

instruction on attempted murder.  That instruction informed the jury that it could find that 

Perla acted with premeditation and deliberation "if either [Perla] or Fernando Morales or 

both of them acted with that state of mind."  (Italics added.)  This was a significant 

misstatement of law because, in fact, in order to find Perla guilty of first degree 

provocative act murder, the jury was required to find that she personally acted with 

premeditation and deliberation.  (See People v. Concha (2009) 47 Cal.4th 653, 665 

                                              

1  Instruction 39 was CALCRIM 570, "Voluntary Manslaughter:  Heat of Passion ― 

Lesser Included Offense." 
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(Concha I) ["[A] defendant charged with murder or attempted murder can be held 

vicariously liable for the actus reus of an accomplice, but, for murder, a defendant cannot 

be held vicariously liable for the mens rea of an accomplice"], citing People v. McCoy 

(2001) 25 Cal.4th 1111, 1118.)   

 In People v. Concha (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1072 (Concha II), on which the 

majority heavily relies, the Court of Appeal concluded that the error in failing to instruct 

the jury that it must find that the defendant personally acted willfully, deliberately, and 

with premeditation in order to find a defendant guilty of first degree murder, was 

harmless because "[t]he evidence was such that beyond a reasonable doubt a rational jury 

would have found that each defendant deliberated and premeditated . . . ."  (Id. at 

p. 1089.)  The Concha II court reached this conclusion on the ground that there was no 

basis to distinguish between the conduct of the four defendants, since, as the court noted, 

it was undisputed that all four defendants "chased [the victim] for a quarter mile with 

deadly weapons, and participated in one fashion or another in the repeated and brutal 

stabbing and beating of [the victim] after cornering him . . . ."  (Id. at p. 1090.)  Here, in 

contrast, there is a significant distinction between the conduct of Perla and that of her 

accomplice, Morales.  While the jury found that Perla used a firearm, under Penal Code 

section 12022.53, subdivision (b), it also found that she did not intentionally discharge a 

firearm during the commission of the attempted murder, under Penal Code section 

12022.53, subdivision (c).  Based on these findings, one can reasonably infer that the jury 
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concluded that Perla handed the gun to Morales, but also concluded that she did not shoot 

Canas.2   

 The majority's contention that "the evidence of Perla's premeditation and 

deliberation in the attempted murder of Canas is equally as strong, if not stronger than the 

evidence of attempt against the defendants in Concha I and II" (maj. opn., pp. 32-33), is 

simply not supported by the evidence.  In Concha, it was clear that all of the defendants 

actively participated in the beating and stabbing of the victim; in this case, in contrast, the 

extent of Perla's participation in the attempted murder of Canas appears to have been 

limited to her handing the firearm to Morales.  Given that Morales fired at Canas multiple 

times, there was no real question that Morales premeditated and deliberated the shooting.  

Because Morales shot Canas and Perla did not, in this case, unlike in Concha II, there 

was clearly a factual basis upon which a rational jury could have found that Morales 

premeditated and deliberated the shooting, but that Perla did not.  There is thus a real 

possibility that the instructional error in this case led the jury to find that Perla 

premeditated and deliberated based not on a finding that she personally premeditated and 

deliberated, but rather, on a finding that Morales did.  

 Another critical factor that distinguishes the error in this case from the error in 

Concha is the context in which the instructional error occurred.  After having heard all of 

                                              

2  The majority speculates that because the jury found that Perla used a weapon, 

under Penal Code section 12022.53, subdivision (b), "it is possible the jury concluded 

Perla fired the weapon, but not intentionally."  (Maj. opn., p. 7, fn. 4.)  It is far more 

likely that the jury's finding that Perla used a weapon is based on the undisputed fact that 

she took the firearm out of her car and handed it to Morales.   
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the evidence, arguments, and jury instructions, and having deliberated for some period of 

time, the jury in this case specifically requested an instruction on second degree murder.  

In response, the court directed the jury to an instruction that grossly misstated the law 

regarding a key distinction between first and second degree murder.  Thus, the error in 

this case was not, as the majority suggests, simply failing to instruct on an element of the 

offense or providing the jury with an erroneous instruction on the mental state required to 

find the defendant guilty, but rather, providing that erroneous instruction to a deliberating 

jury that had asked for guidance on this specific issue.  The majority inexplicably fails to 

address the impact of the trial court's erroneous response to the jury's pointed question in 

its harmless error analysis, other than to state, "If we were to . . . conclude the jury 

question alone requires reversal of this case, we would be applying a per se reversible 

error standard, which is contrary to substantial controlling authority."3  (Maj. opn., 

p. 29.) 

 Instead, in assessing whether the instructional error was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt, the majority limits its inquiry to the abstract question of whether a 

hypothetical "rational jury" would have found that Perla premeditated and deliberated.  

                                              

3  In making this assertion, the majority constructs a classic straw man argument.  I 

am not suggesting that "the jury instruction alone" requires reversal, nor that a trial 

court's providing an erroneous instruction to a deliberating jury would, in every instance, 

require reversal.  Rather, I have concluded that  the instructional error requires reversal in 

this case, because (1) the jury specifically requested that the trial court provide an 

instruction on second degree murder; (2) in response, the court provided the jury with an 

incorrect instruction; and (3)  under the facts of this case, the error in the instruction may 

have led the jury to find Perla guilty of first degree murder based on a finding that 

Morales premeditated and deliberated, and not on a finding that Perla personally 

premeditated and deliberated. 
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However, in assessing the impact of the error, one cannot ignore the fact that the actual 

jury specifically requested an instruction on second degree murder and that in response, 

the court directed the jury to an instruction that misstated the critical intent element. 

 This court has recognized that, "there is no category of instructional error more 

prejudicial than when the trial judge makes a mistake in responding to a jury's inquiry 

during deliberations."  (People v. Thompkins (1987) 195 Cal.App.3d 244, 252-253.)  

During its deliberations, the jury in this case sent the court a note requesting a specific 

instruction, and in response, the court provided an instruction that was legally incorrect.  

In view of the circumstances in this case, the jury's request for an instruction on second 

degree murder was clearly a rational one.  The fact that in response, the trial court 

directed the jury to an instruction that was incorrect as to a critical distinction between 

first degree murder and second degree murder, i.e., premeditation and deliberation, and 

that effectively invited the jury to find Perla guilty of first degree murder if it found that 

Morales premeditated and deliberated, precludes a determination that the instructional 

error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

 

      

AARON, J. 

 

 


